S275023

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CESAR ROMERO and TATANA SPICAKOVA ROMERO,

Plaintiffs and Appellants

v.

LI-CHUAN SHIH and TUN-JEN KO,

Defendants and Respondents

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

Cross-defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT CASE NO. B310069

AFTER AN APPEAL FROM LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. EC064933

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

INTRODUCTION

The limited certified question for review in this case is: "Did the trial court correctly find the existence of an implied easement under the facts?" The clear answer to this question is: "Yes". There was substantial evidence before the trial court of the existence of an implied easement benefiting the property¹ owned by Defendants and Respondents Li-Chuan Shih and Tun-Jen Ko's (collectively the "Shih-Kos") to maintain a driveway, planter, and block wall ("Improvements") over an approximate eight (8) foot strip ("Disputed Area") of the property² owned by Plaintiffs and Appellants Cesar Romero and Tatana Spicakova Romero (collectively the "Romeros").

¹ The property is commonly known as 643 West Alegria Avenue, Sierra Madre, California 91024 (the "643 Property").

² The property is commonly known as 651 West Alegria Avenue, Sierra Madre, California 91024 (the "651 Property").

The evidence before the trial court presented a classic example of an implied easement. The Improvements were first installed in the 1960s when the 643 and 651 properties were both owned by Edwin L. Cutler and Ann L. Cutler (the "Cutlers"). [Reporter's Transcript ("RT") 158:8-159:19; Appellants' Appendix ("AA") Vol. I p. 509 (Trial Exhibit 92 p. 3); Respondents' Transcript ("RA") Vol. 1 p. 190 (Trial Exhibit 718 p. 52).] In 1986, the Cutlers sold the 651 Property to their son Bevon Cutler, his wife Judy Cutler together with David and Sally Shewmake. [AA Vol. II pp. 365-366 (Trial Exhibit 26).] At that time, the use of the Improvements in the Disputed Area by the Cutlers was obvious and permanent. Based on these undisputed facts, the trial court correctly found that an implied easement was created in favor of the 643 Property for use of the Disputed Area. (*Cal. Civ. Code* § 1104 [implied easement is created "in the same manner and to the same extent as such property was **obviously and permanently** used…"].)

Moreover, the trial court relied on the testimony of Mr. Shewmake, the only witness with first-hand knowledge of the intent of the parties and the use of the properties prior to the division of title in 1986. Mr. Shewmake clearly testified that the intent of the parties was for the Improvements to remain for the benefit of the 643 Property. [RT 159:20-160:14.]

These facts alone established the clear intent required to prove the existence of an implied easement.

In addition, there was substantial evidence before the trial court that the implied easement is "reasonably necessary" to the beneficial enjoyment of the 643 Property, which means no more than "for the benefit thereof". (*Thorstrom v. Thorstrom*, (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 1406, 1420-1421.) Expert testimony firmly established that without the use of the Disputed Area the 643 Property would be severely impacted. The loss of use of the

Disputed Area would result in an unreasonably narrow driveway, an inadequate turnaround area in front of the garage, and the elimination of the garage setback, parking area and the garden planter, all of which would result in a significant diminution in value of the 643 Property.

Importantly, this same evidence was relied on by the trial court to establish the "greatly disproportionate hardship" standard for an equitable easement, "which is more than sufficient to satisfy the reasonably necessary factor here." [AA Vol. II p. 307 at ¶2 (SOD).] Given that both the trial court and the Court of Appeal determined that this higher standard for an equitable easement was met, there can be no dispute that this same evidence satisfies the lower standard of reasonable necessity for an implied easement.

This Court should affirm the trial court decision which correctly found the existence of an implied easement over the Disputed Area to maintain the Improvements for the benefit of the 643 Property, and reverse the Court of Appeal decision finding that an implied easement could not exist under the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Properties At Issue

The Shih-Kos are the owners of the 643 Property. The Shih-Kos obtained title to their property on or about July 1, 2014. [AA Vol. III p. 484-485 (Trial Exhibit 55).] The 643 Property is improved with a single-family residence as well as the Improvements at issue in this case.

The Romeros are the owners of the adjacent real property known as the "651 Property". The Romeros obtained title to the 651

Property on or about April 9, 2014. [AA Vol. III pp. 403-441 (Trial Exhibit 43).] The 651 Property is improved with a single-family residence that was originally constructed in or about 1985. A block wall divides the Romero and Shih-Ko properties. [RA Vol. 1 p. 185 (Trial Exhibit 692 p. 1).] The 651 Property is on the left side of the photo and the 643 Property is on the right. A diagram of the 643 Property and the 651 Property, the Disputed Area and the Improvements is included in the Appendix. [AA Vol. III p. 493 (Trial Exhibit 89).]

B. Prior Ownership Of The 643 and 651 Properties

The 643 and 651 Properties were previously owned by the Cutlers who acquired title as joint tenants on or about October 8, 1941. [RA Vol. 1 pp. 53, 55 (Trial Exhibits 4 and 5).] The Cutlers lived in the home on the 643 Property. For many years the 651 Property was a vacant lot. [RT 146:25-147:15.] During the time that the Cutlers owned the 643 and 651 Properties, the properties were separated by a chain link fence. [RT 156:19-158:7; AA Vol. IV p. 509 (Trial Exhibit 92 p. 3).]

C. The Lot Line Adjustment Application

On about February 4, 1985, the Cutlers filed an application seeking a variance to obtain a lot line adjustment with the City to widen the 643 Property to include the Disputed Area ("Application"). [AA Vol. II pp. 346-347 (Trial Exhibit 7).] Mr. Cutler submitted a covenant and drawings indicating his intent to transfer eight (8) feet of the 651 Property to the 643 Property. [AA Vol. II, pp. 351-354 (Trial Exhibit 10 p. 2-4).] On February 21, 1985, the City approved the Application. The Planning Commission minutes state that Mr. Cutler told the Commission that he was seeking the variance because without the additional square footage, the driveway would be "extremely narrow". The Minutes reflect that the Commission approved the Application and state that "[i]n order to adjust the boundary line, Mr. Cutler will need an engineer-surveyed parcel map." [AA Vol. II pp. 351-354, 356 (Trial Exhibits 10 p. 1 and 11).]

Thereafter, Mr. Cutler submitted all necessary documents to the City to complete the lot line adjustment including a survey and site plan prepared May 8, 1985, by John B. Abell, Inc., with a legal description for the properties after the lot line adjustment. [AA Vol. II pp. 358-359 (Trial Exhibit 14); RT 160:15-27.]

Vincent Gonzalez ("Mr. Gonzalez"), Director of Planning and Community Preservation for the City, testified at trial that all necessary documents required to complete the lot line adjustment were submitted to the City. However, Mr. Gonzalez testified that the City never issued a certificate of compliance and therefore the lot line adjustment was not finalized. [RT 190:8-191:6.]

Mr. Gonzalez also testified that there was no evidence in the City's files to indicate that Mr. Cutler affirmatively abandoned his request or withdrew the Application. [RT 191:7-22.] Mr. Gonzalez further testified that in 1985, when the home on the 651 Property was constructed, the Notice of Completion would not have been issued by the City if the lot line adjustment had not been completed. [RT 196:2-11; 198:28-199:6; RA Vol. 1 pp. 57-70 (Trial Exhibits 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25); AA Vol. II p. 363 (Trial Exhibit 21); AA Vol. II pp. 371-72 (Trial Exhibit 28).]

D. Improvements On The 651 Property Intended To Be Permanent And Benefit The 643 Property After Severance Of Title

After Mr. Cutler embarked upon the lot line adjustment process, his son Bevon Cutler and Bevon's wife Judy Cutler, partnered with David G. Shewmake ("Mr. Shewmake") and his wife, Sally Ann Shewmake, to build the house on the 651 Property with the intention of selling it and earning a profit. [RT 146:28-147:6; 147:25-148:15; 167:18-168:28.]

Mr. Shewmake was the only witness at trial who had direct knowledge of the physical configuration of the properties and the intent of the parties at the time of separation of title. Mr. Shewmake testified that he knew the Cutlers because his father was an electrician who did repair work for the Cutlers at the 643 Property where they lived with their son, Bevon Cutler. He also testified that he first visited the Shih-Ko and Romero properties in the early 1960s, and the last time on March 8, 2020, the day before he testified at trial. [RT 146:15-27; 148:25-149:5.]

Mr. Shewmake testified that the driveway and the garden planter at the 643 Property were in existence since the 1960s and remained unchanged to the present. [RT 158:8-159:6; AA Vol. I p. 509 (Trial Exhibit 92 p.3); RA Vol. 1 p. 190 (Trial Exhibit 718 p. 52).] He testified that both the brick planter and the driveway were in the same configuration and location before the construction of the house began on the 651 Property in 1985. [RT 156:19-24; 157: 15-19; 158:8-159:6; RA Vol. 1 p. 198 (Trial Exhibit 721 p. 4).] He made it clear that the driveway and brick planter belonged to the 643 Property. [RT 160:22-161:8.]

Mr. Shewmake further testified that before construction began, there was an existing chain link fence between the Romero and Shih-Ko properties that was ultimately replaced by the block wall. [RT 156:19-24; 157:24-158:7.]

He testified that the intent of the parties was that the driveway and the garden planter would remain. There was no intent to tear them out. [RT 159:20-160:14.] He further testified that he thought the lot line adjustment pursued by the Cutlers had been completed. [RT 160:15-21.]

Thus, there was no doubt that the parties intended that the Improvements remain for the continued use by the 643 Property after the separation of title.

E. Development Of The 651 Property And The Transfer Of Title

Beginning in May of 1985, Bevon Cutler applied for several building permits to construct the block wall as well as the single-family residence on the 651 Property. [RA Vol. 1 pp. 57-70 (Trial Exhibits 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25.); AA Vol. II p. 363 (Trial Exhibit 21); AA Vol. II pp. 371-72 (Trial Exhibit 28).] The building permits reflect that the last building inspections were completed on or about January 1986. The Notice of Completion states that construction was completed on January 1, 1986. [AA Vol. II pp. 371-372 (Trial Exhibit 28).]

Thereafter, on March 12, 1986, the Cutlers executed a grant deed transferring title to the 651 Property to Bevon and Judy Cutler, and David and Sally Ann Shewmake as joint tenants ("Bevon/Shewmake Grant Deed"). [AA Vol. II pp. 365-366 (Trial Exhibit 26).] The Bevon/Shewmake Grant Deed was not recorded until May 9, 1996, the same date they transferred title to the 651 Property to Manfred and Elizabeth Leong ("Leongs"). [AA Vol. II pp. 368-369 (Trial Exhibit 27).]

The 651 Property was subsequently conveyed from the Leongs to Dawn Hicks prior to the Romeros acquiring title to the Property in 2014. [AA Vol. II pp. 383-384 (Trial Exhibit 37).] There was no evidence that the Leongs, Ms. Hicks or any of the subsequent owners of the 651 Property ever questioned or complained about the Improvements.

F. The Cutlers Included The Disputed Area In Several Wild Deeds

For many years following the submission of the Application for a lot line adjustment and the transfer of title of the 651 Property, the Cutlers prepared and recorded several grant deeds for the 643 Property that included a legal description of the Disputed Area. [AA Vol. II pp. 374, 376, 381 (Trial Exhibits 29, 30, 35).] Because the lot line adjustment had not been recorded, the Cutlers did not own the Disputed Area at the time they executed the deeds. Therefore, the deeds are "wild deeds" because they are not within the chain of title and did not convey title to the Disputed Area. However, the fact that the Cutlers included a legal description for the Disputed Area in the wild deeds is further evidence of their intent to maintain an interest in the Disputed Area for the benefit of the 643 Property and further evidences their belief that the lot line adjustment process had been completed.

First, on November 16, 1989, a grant deed was recorded transferring the 643 Property from Edwin L. Cutler and Ann L. Cutler to

Edwin L. Cutler, Sr. and Ann L. Cutler, Trustees under Declaration of Trust dated May 9, 1989 ("1989 Cutler Grant Deed"). The 1989 Cutler Grant Deed included the following legal description of the Disputed Area: "Together with the easterly 8.00 feet of Lot "B" of Gurhardy Heights, as per map recorded in Book 13, Page 188 of Maps, in the office of the County Recorder of said County, lying south of the easterly prolongation of the North line of Lot 12 of said Tract." [AA Vol. II p. 374 (Trial Exhibit 29).]

Thereafter, on April 1, 1992, another grant deed was recorded transferring the 643 Property from Edwin L. Cutler, Sr. and Ann L. Cutler, Trustees Under Declaration of Trust dated May 9, 1989, to Edwin L. Cutler, Sr. and Ann L. Cutler, husband and wife as community property ("1992 Cutler Grant Deed"). The 1992 Cutler Grant Deed also included the same legal description of the Disputed Area. [AA Vol. II p. 376 (Trial Exhibit 30).]

Again, on December 21, 1998, a quitclaim deed was recorded transferring title of the 643 Property from Ann L. Cutler to Ann L. Cutler, Trustee of the Revocable Trust of Ann L. Cutler dated December 7, 1998, and included the legal description of the Disputed Area ("1998 Cutler Grant Deed"). [AA Vol. II p. 381 (Trial Exhibit 35 p. 2).]

Thus, the evidence shows that the Cutlers intended to complete and in fact believed that the lot line adjustment process was completed.

G. The Romeros Discover That The Improvements Encroach On The 651 Property

At the time that the Romeros purchased the 651 Property, they were unaware that the Improvements encroached onto the 651 Property.

[RT 662:6-10] In 2015, approximately a year after purchase, Mr. Romero testified he planned to make improvements to the retaining wall in his front yard and took measurements needed to order the building materials for the project. Based on the measurements, he suspected that the width of the front yard was inaccurate. [RT 663:15-664:10] Thereafter, he hired a land surveyor, James Kevorkian who prepared a survey dated July 30, 2015, which confirmed the existence of the encroachments. [RT 680:20-681:13; AA Vol. IV p. 512 (Trial Exhibit 100).]

H. Reasonable Necessity For The Implied Easement

The evidence at trial showed that the Improvements are reasonably necessary for the use of the 643 Property.

1. Unreasonably Narrow Driveway to Access Rear Garage

David Knell ("Mr. Knell"), a land surveyor, testified as to several dimensions of the 643 Property. Based on his survey, he testified that the Shih-Ko driveway was 7.2 feet at its narrowest point between the true property line and the length of the Shih-Ko residence. [RT 272:13-28; RA Vol. 1 p. 176 (Trial Exhibit 608).]

Mr. Gonzalez testified regarding a City ordinance requiring a ten (10) foot minimum driveway width for properties with a detached garage in the rear. [RT 203:25-204:27; 205:23-206:4; RA Vol. 1 pp. 142-174 (Trial Exhibit 595).] Steve McCormick ("Mr. McCormick") a licensed general contractor, testified that he conducted a study of multiple car widths to determine whether cars could use the driveway and access the rear garage without the use of the Disputed Area. He concluded that the Shih-Ko driveway would be largely unusable to access the garage because it was too narrow for most vehicles. Specifically, he said that access to the rear garage would be virtually eliminated for all but subcompact cars. [RT 310:9-311:25; 312:6-315:16; 341:11-344:5; RA Vol. 1 pp. 203-212 (Trial Exhibit 739).]

The Romeros offered the opinion testimony of Steven Helfrich ("Mr. Helfrich"), a civil engineer and general contractor. Mr. Helfrich simply opined that a 2018 Prius could access the garage using a 7.2 feet wide driveway. [RT 423:6-12; AA Vol. IV p. 539 (Trial Exhibit 87).] In rendering his opinion, Mr. Helfrich did not consider the width of any other vehicle. [RT 428:22-27; 429:23-27.]

2. Inadequate Turnaround Area to Exit Driveway

At the end of the driveway is a two-car garage. [RA Vol. 1 pp. 192 (Trial Exhibit 718, p. 55).] There is also a turnaround area in front of the garage. Mr. McCormick testified that without the use of the Disputed Area, a driver exiting the Shih-Ko garage could not exit the driveway head on. Rather, a driver would be required to back up the entire length of the eighty-five (85) driveway. [RT 315:24-316:13; 322:19-26.]

Mr. Helfrich admitted that there was an insufficient turnaround area without the use of the Disputed Area for even a small 2018 Prius to exit the driveway head on. [RT 430:19-431:1; RA Vol 1 p. 78 (Trial

Exhibit 86).] Therefore, Mr. Helfrich suggested creating a twenty (20) foot by twenty (20) foot turnaround area which is less than the City's minimum requirement. Mr. Gonzalez testified that the City's minimum turnaround or back up area needed to enable a driver to turn around the vehicle and exit the driveway head on, is twenty-six (26) feet, eight (8) inches. [RT 204:9-206:14; 207:9-208:20; RA Vol. 1 pp. 142-174 (Trial Exhibit 595).]

In addition, to create this inadequate turnaround area, Mr. Helfrich stated that the wood fence between the garage and the house would need to be torn down so that the land located behind the fence could be used for the turnaround area. [RT 420:19-27; 421:11-422:8; 424:24-425:1; RA Vol. 1 p. 78 (Trial Exhibit 86); AA Vol. III p. 491 (Trial Exhibit 85).] This was unworkable given the existence of a planter bed and a patio that is nine (9) to fourteen (14) inches lower than the driveway, rendering it completely unsuitable as a turnaround area. [RT 431:14-432:2; 432:23-433:27; RA Vol. 1 p. 189 (Trial Exhibit 718 p. 35).]

Mr. Helfrich stated that a 2018 Prius using the proposed turnaround area would still need to back up five (5) or six (6) times to angle the vehicle so that it could exit the driveway head on. [RT 431:2-13] Mr. Helfrich did not consider any other options to create a new turnaround area other than removing the fence and using the patio and garden area. He admitted that without the patio and garden area, a car would have to back up the entire length of the eighty-five (85) foot driveway. [RT 434:4-13; 435:14-23.] Therefore, Mr. Helfrich effectively admitted that there is no reasonable substitute available on the 643 Property and thus substantiated the reasonable necessity for an implied easement.

3. Inadequate Space between Garage and Block Wall/Removal of the Air Conditioning Unit

Mr. McCormick testified that if the block wall was moved to the property line, there would be only a few inches between the block wall and the exterior of the garage on the 643 Property. [RT 323:20-27.] As a result, there would be no access to maintain the exterior of the garage. [RT 324:7-9.] In addition, the distance between the wall and the garage would be less than the five (5) foot setback ordinance requirement of the City. [RT 324:10-18; RA Vol. 1 pp. 181-183 (Trial Exhibit 620).] Finally, the air conditioning unit mounted to the exterior wall of the garage would have to be relocated. [RT 324:4-7; 338:19-27.]

The Romeros offered no viable alternative for the inadequate space between the garage and the block wall if the block wall was moved to the property line.

4. Inadequate On-Site Parking

With respect to on-site parking, Mr. McCormick testified that if the block wall was moved to the property line, the on-site parking space beside the garage would be eliminated. [RT 323:20-324:3.] In addition, parking would be eliminated on the driveway between the house and the block wall. He explained that even a subcompact car could not park on the driveway adjacent to the house because there would be insufficient room to open the car doors and exit the vehicle. [RT 314:4-28; 319:3-15; RA Vol. 1 pp. 203-212 (Trial Exhibit 739 pp. 4-6).] Mr. Helfrich confirmed that without the use of the Disputed Area, it would be impossible to open the doors and exit a Prius parked in the driveway adjacent to the Shih-Ko house. [RT 426:14-427:5; AA Vol. IV p. 539 (Trial Exhibit 87).]

5. Loss of Garden Planter

The garden planter is part of the curb appeal and aesthetics of the 643 Property. The garden planter at issue flanks one side of the Shih-Ko driveway and matches the garden planter on the other side of the Shih-Ko driveway, thus marking the gateway to the 643 Property. [RT 231:3-20; RA Vol. 1 p. 193 (Trial Exhibit 718 p. 61).]

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