Case No. S275023

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CESAR ROMERO and TATIANA SPICAKOVA ROMERO

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

LI-CHUAN SHIH and TUN-JEN KO

Defendants and Respondents,

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

Cross-Defendant and Respondent.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B310069

After an Appeal from the Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. EC064933

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

McCormick, Barstow, Sheppard, Wayte & Carruth LLP Scott M. Reddie, #173756 scott.reddie@mccormickbarstow.com 7647 North Fresno Street Fresno, California 93720 Telephone: (559) 433-1300 Facsimile: (559) 433-2300

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeal correctly concluded the same rationale for precluding exclusive prescriptive easements applies to implied easements

1. The distinction between an easement and an estate/possessory interest

"Interests in land can take several forms, including 'estates' and 'easements."" (*Hansen v. Sandridge Partners*, *L.P.* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 1020, 1032.) "An estate is an ownership interest in land that is, or may become, possessory." (*Ibid.*) "In contrast, an easement is not a type of ownership, but rather an incorporeal interest in land ... which confers a right upon the owner thereof to *some* profit, benefit, dominion, or lawful use out of or over the *estate* of another." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted, citing *Guerra v. Packard* (1965) 236 Cal.App.2d 272, 285; *Silacci v. Abramson* (1966) 45 Cal.App.4th 558, 564.)

"An easement is, by definition, 'less than the right of ownership."" (Ibid., citing Mehdizadeh v. Mincer (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1296, 1306.) It is "an interest in the land of another, which entitles the owner of the easement to a limited use or enjoyment of the other's land." (Main Street Plaza v. Cartwright & Main, LLC (2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 1044, 1053, italics added.) The key distinction between an ownership interest in land and an easement interest in land is the former involves possession of land whereas the latter involves use of land. (Hansen, supra, 22 Cal.App.5th at 1032.)

Because easements involve use of property and not possession, the owners of the dominant tenement (easement user) and servient tenement (actual property owner) are required to cooperatively share the easement area. "Every incident of ownership not inconsistent with the easement and the enjoyment of the same is reserved to the owner of the servient estate." (*Thorstrom v. Thorstrom* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 1406, 1422, citing *Scruby v. Vintage Grapevine*, *Inc.* (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 697, 702.)

"An easement defines and calibrates the rights of the parties affected by it. 'The owner of the dominant tenement must use his or her easements and rights in such a way as to impose as slight a burden as possible on the servient tenement." (*Ibid.*) "[T]he owner of the servient tenement may make any use of the land that does not interfere unreasonably with the easement." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted.)

Courts "are required to observe the traditional distinction between easements and possessory interests in order to foster certainty in land titles." (*Kapner v. Meadowlark Ranch Assn.* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1182, 1187.)

2. Because the implied easement awarded by the trial court is exclusive and is not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety, it is not permissible as a matter of law

a. The three general types of courtordered easements and their elements

In general, there are three types of court-created easements: prescriptive, implied and equitable. Each has its own set of elements. "To establish the elements of a prescriptive easement, the claimant must prove use of the property, for the statutory period of five years, which use has been (1) open and notorious; (2) continuous and uninterrupted; (3) hostile to the true owner; and (4) under claim of right." (*Hansen v. Sandridge Partners, L.P.* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 1020, 1032, citing *Mehdizadeh v. Mincer* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1296, 1305.)

"[A]n 'easement will be implied when, at the time of conveyance of property, the following conditions exist: 1) the owner of property conveys or transfers a portion of that property to another; 2) the owner's prior existing use of the property was of a nature that the parties must have intended or believed that the use would continue; meaning that the existing use must either have been known to the grantor and the grantee, or have been so obviously and apparently permanent that the parties should have known of the use; and 3) the easement is reasonably necessary to the use and benefit of the quasi-dominant tenement. ..."" (*Thorstrom v. Thorstrom* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 1406, 1420.)

Turning to equitable easements, the trespasser—party attempting to obtain an easement—has the burden of showing that: "(1) her trespass was innocent rather than willful or negligent, (2) the public or the property owner will not be irreparabl[y] injur[ed] by the easement, and (3) the hardship to the trespasser is greatly disproportionate to the hardship caused [to the owner] by the continuance of the encroachment." (Shoen v. Zacarias (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 16, 19, internal quotation marks omitted, citing Tashakori v. Lakis (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 1003, 1009; Linthicum v. Butterfield (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 259, 265; Christensen v. Tucker (1952) 114 Cal.App.2d 554, 559, 562-563; Warsaw v. Chicago Metallic Ceilings, Inc. (1984) 35 Cal.3d 564, 576.) Additionally, the easement must not be greater than is reasonably necessary to protect the trespasser's use interest. (Linthicum v. Butterfield (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 256, 268.)

b. The long-standing rationale precluding exclusive prescriptive easements applies equally to exclusive implied easements

Although the elements of the three court-ordered easements are different, the rationale precluding courtordered *exclusive* prescriptive which are not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety is equally applicable to all court-ordered easements, including implied easements. It is based on honoring the important distinction between fee title ownership (possessory interests) and easements in order to foster certainty in land titles.

The court in *Raab v. Casper* (1975) 51 Cal.App.3d 866, 876, discussed the distinction between an actual easement and something that is labeled an easement but is, in effect and reality, an unauthorized conveyance of ownership because it completely excludes the property owner:

An exclusive interest labeled "easement" may be so comprehensive as to supply the equivalent of an estate, i.e., ownership. In determining whether a conveyance creates an easement or estate, it is important to observe the extent to which the conveyance limits the uses available to the grantor; an estate entitles the owner to the exclusive occupation of a portion of the earth's surface. [Citations.] ""If a conveyance purported to transfer to A an *unlimited* use or enjoyment of Blackacre, it would be in effect a conveyance of ownership to A, not of an easement.""

"Where an incorporeal interest in the use of land becomes so comprehensive as to supply the equivalent of ownership, and conveys an unlimited use of real property, it constitutes an estate, not an easement." (Mehdizadeh v. Mincer (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1296, 1300, citing Raab v. Casper, supra, 51 Cal.App.3d at 876-877.) An easement designed to completely exclude the owner of the property "create[s] the practical equivalent of an estate" and, as such, "require[s] proof and findings of the elements of adverse possession, not prescriptive use." (*Raab v. Casper, supra*, 51 Cal.App.3d at 877.)

To permit a trespasser to have exclusive use of land, to the exclusion of the owner, "perverts the classical distinction in real property law between ownership and use." (*Harrison v. Welch* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1084, 1092, citing *Silacci v. Abramson* (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 558, 564 [prescriptive easement not permitted for encroaching woodshed because the woodshed, as with any substantial building structure, "as a practical matter completely prohibits the true owner from using his land"].)

The court in Kapner v. Meadowlark Ranch Ass'n (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1182 contains a good explanation of why exclusive easements are prohibited. In Kapner, Sylvan Kapner purchased a five acre parcel of real property in 1986 along with a 1/80th undivided interest in a 60 foot-wide roadway parcel. A paved road 20 feet wide meanders through the 60-foot wide roadway parcel. (*Id.* at 1185-86.) When Kapner purchased his property, it was unimproved. (*Id.* at 1186.) By November 1987, approximately one year after the purchase, Kapner had completed improvements including a house, driveway, gate and perimeter fence. (*Ibid.*)

In 2001, the Meadowlark Ranch Association (MRA) the association in charge of administering the protective

34

covenants and restrictions—obtained a survey which showed that some of Kapner's improvements, including portions of the driveway, gate and perimeter fence, encroached onto the 60foot wide roadway parcel. (*Ibid.*) None of the improvements, however, encroached on the paved portion of the road. (*Ibid.*) After Kapner refused to remove the encroachments or sign an encroachment agreement, a lawsuit was filed. (*Ibid.*) The trial court found in favor of the MRA. The judgment required Kapner to either sign an encroachment agreement (stating he would remove them if it ever became necessary) or remove the encroachments. Kapner appealed, arguing the trial court erred in finding he had not acquired a prescriptive easement over the areas enclosed by his improvements. (*Ibid.*)

After discussing prescriptive easements and noting a prescriptive easement "is not an ownership right, but a right to a specific use of another's property," the court of appeal noted: "But Kapner's use of the land was not in the nature of an easement. Instead, he enclosed and *possessed* the land in question." (*Ibid.*, italics added.) The court of appeal affirmed the judgment, noting that, because Kapner *possessed* the land, he was not entitled to a prescriptive *easement*; otherwise, there would be no true distinction between an easement and a possessory interest. The court stated:

To escape the tax requirement for adverse possession, some claimants who have exercised what amounts to possessory rights over parts of neighboring parcels, have claimed a prescriptive easement. Courts uniformly have rejected the claim. [Citations.] These cases rest on the traditional distinction between easements and possessory interests. [Citation.]

.... We are required to observe the traditional distinction between easements and possessory interests in order to foster certainty in land titles. Moreover, the requirement for paying taxes in order to obtain title by adverse possession is statutory. [Citation.] The law does not allow parties who have *possessed* land to ignore the statutory requirement for paying taxes by claiming a prescriptive easement.

Because Kapner enclosed and *possessed* the land in question, his claim to a prescriptive easement is without merit.

(*Id.* at 1187, emphasis added.)

The same result was reached in the more recent decision of *Hansen v. Sandridge Partners, L.P.* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 1020. In *Hansen*, the plaintiff planted ten acres of pistachio trees on what turned out to be the neighbor's property.
Plaintiff sought an easement to use the ten acres to continue farming the trees, to the exclusion of the actual property owner being able to use and farm the property. The *Hansen* court concluded that such an easement is not permitted because it is, in effect, creating a change in title, which cannot occur absent establishing a valid claim for adverse possession. (*Id.* at 1032.)

The court stated: "There is a difference between a prescriptive use of land culminating in an easement (i.e., an incorporeal interest) and adverse possession which creates a change in title or ownership (i.e., a corporeal interest); the former deals with the use of land, the other with possession; although the elements of each are similar, the requirements of proof are materially different." (*Ibid.*, citing *Raab v. Casper* (1975) 51 Cal.App.3d 866, 876.) The court further stated:

Unsurprisingly, claimants have often tried to obtain the fruits of adverse possession under the guise of a prescriptive easement to avoid having to satisfy the tax element. [Citation.] That is, they seek judgments "employing the nomenclature of easement but ... creat[ing] the practical equivalent of an estate." [Citation.] Such judgments "pervert [] the classical distinction in real property law between ownership and use." [Citation.] The law prevents this sophistry with the following rule: If the prescriptive interest sought by a claimant is so comprehensive as to supply the equivalent of an estate, the claimant must establish the elements of adverse possession, not those of a prescriptive easement. [Citation.] In other words, the law simply "does not allow parties who have possessed land to ignore the statutory requirement for paying taxes by claiming a prescriptive easement."

(*Id.* at 1033.) Because what plaintiffs sought in a boundary dispute was access and usage of the property to the exclusion of Sandridge, plaintiffs could not be awarded an easement. Rather, plaintiffs' only available remedy was proving a claim for adverse possession, which it failed to do.

Here, the trial court's award of an implied easement provided the Shih-Kos, and all future owners, with *use and possession* of the 1,296 square foot area to the complete exclusion of the Romeros. The Romeros were divested "of nearly all rights that owners customarily have including access and usage." (*See Hansen, supra,* 22 Cal.App.5th at 1034.) Based on the trial court's decision, the Romeros would be unable "to use the Disputed Land for any 'practical purpose."" (*See ibid.*) The Shih-Kos' exclusive possession and occupation of the 1,296 square foot area takes their claim out of the realm of the law of easements. "Because the interest sought by [the Shih-Kos] was the *practical* equivalent of an estate, they were required to meet the requirements of adverse possession, including payment of taxes." (*See ibid.*) They failed to do so.

To permit a trespasser to have exclusive use of land, to the exclusion of the owner, "perverts the classical distinction in real property law between ownership and use." (*Harrison v. Welch, supra,* 116 Cal.App.4th at 1092, citing *Silacci v. Abramson, supra,* 45 Cal.App.4th at 564. Permitting an exclusive implied easement does the same thing, it would permit the trespasser (the Shih-Kos and all future owners) to have exclusive use and possession of land the trespasser does not own, to the complete exclusion of the fee title holder (the Romeros and all future owners), thus perverting "the classical distinction in real property law between ownership and use."

As such, given that fee title property rights are fundamental rights grounded in the United States and California Constitutions, there is no rational basis for not applying the same exclusivity rule to implied easements. Thus, the Court of Appeal correctly concluded court-ordered implied easements which are not de minimis or necessary for public health and safety and which leave the fee title holder with no practical use of the fee title holder's property are not permissible as a matter of law. c. The cases cited by the Shih-Kos in their petition for review do not support a finding that exclusive implied easements which are not de minimis or necessary for public health or safety are permissible

Although the Shih-Kos chose not to address in their Opening Brief on the Merits the Court of Appeal's dispositive holding on exclusive implied easements, they did address the holding in their petition for review. On pages 9-12 of their petition, the Shih-Kos cite to five cases which they contend support their position that exclusive implied easements are permissible. None of those cases, however, actually support their position or state or suggest exclusive implied easements are permissible.

In Zeller v. Browne (1956) 143 Cal.App.2d 191, the Robinsons built two adjacent homes (one on Lot 39 and one on Lot 40) that were cut into a hillside on a steep slope. (*Id.* at 192.) The Lot 39 home had a walkway and stairway to reach the upper levels of the home and the attic, but the walkway and stairway partially encroached on Lot 40. Robinson sold the Lot 39 home to Zeller and the Lot 40 home to Browne. A few years later, Browne constructed a chain link fence on "Lot 40 parallel to and approximately 0.34 of a foot northerly of the southerly line thereof thus preventing [Zeller's] access to and from said walk and stairway." (*Id.* at 193.) In affirming the granting of an easement for Zeller to use the walkway and stairway that slightly encroached upon Browne's property, the court noted that the existing stairway and walkway was the only "means of getting from a lower to a higher level of Lot 39 and to respondent's attic" and that Zeller "was, by the building department, denied a permit to construct another stairway." (*Id.* at 194-195.) Thus, not only does this case fall within the *de minimis* exception, but the easement was in fact necessary for ingress and egress to and from the upper levels of the house.

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